IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,015

DONALD S. ZUCKERMAN, etc., et al.,
Petitioner,

٧.

HOFRICHTER & QUIAT, P.A., et al.,
Respondents.

FILED
SID J. ANNITE
JAN 20 1994
GLESK, SUPREME COURTS

PETITIONER'S BRIEF CN JURISDICTION

PAUL C. HUCK, ESQ. 2850 First Union Fin. Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami FL 33:31 Telephone: (305) 372-1800

COOPER & WOLFE, P.A.
700 Courthouse Tower
44 West Flagler Street
Miami, FL 33130
Telephone: (305) 371-1597

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court held that proceeds of a settlement in an action for benefits under a disability insurance policy were not "disability income benefits" exempt from garnishment under section 222.18, Florida Statutes. This Court has jurisdiction to review this decision because it directly conflicts with this Court's decision in Bank of Greenwood v. Rawls, which interpreted the predecessor statute to § 222.18 which had language nearly identical to the relevant language in this case. The decision also conflicts with the Second District Court's decision in J. Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc., because it misapplies the rule of law stated in that case. J. Allen merely states the unremarkable proposition that a party who enters into a settlement of a disputed claim cannot later attempt to litigate that claim. It does not follow that funds paid pursuant to a settlement of a case to obtain benefits under a disability policy somehow lose their character as disability benefits.

It is important for this Court to exercise its jurisdiction because the Third District's decision is contrary to the plain language of the statute, contravenes the policy behind the disability benefits exemption, contravenes the policy that favors settlement and unfairly places those insureds who must go to court to obtain their disability benefits in a significantly worse position than those whose insurance carriers do not deny their claims.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION CON-FLICTS WITH A DECISION OF THIS COURT AND A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT.

The Third District held that funds paid pursuant to settlement of a lawsuit for disability insurance benefits were not "disability income benefits" exempt from garnishment under Fla.Stat. § 222.18.4/ Donald S. Zuckerman, P.A. v. Hofrichter & Quiat, P.A., 18 Fla.L.Weekly D2571 (Fla. 3d DCA Dec. 7, 1993). The court reasoned that the settlement agreement "extinguished Zuckerman's claim under the disability policy" and therefore those funds were paid "pursuant to the agreement of settlement and compromise, not the disability insurance policy." Id.

The Third District's decision conflicts with this Court's decision in Bank of Greenwood v. Rawls, 117 Fla. 381, 158 So. 173 (1934) and with the Second District Court's decision in J. Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc., 543 So.2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). This Court therefore has jurisdiction to review this case.

Disability income benefits under any policy or contract of life, health, accident, or other insurance of whatever form, shall not in any case be liable to attachment, garnishment, or legal process in the state, in favor of any creditor or creditors of the recipient of such disability income benefits, unless such policy or contract of insurance was effected for the benefit of such creditor or creditors.

^{4/} Section 222.18 provides:

A. The Third District Court's decision directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Bank</u> of Greenwood v. Rawls.

In <u>Bank of Greenwood v. Rawls</u>, 117 Fla. 381, 158 So. 173 (1934), a man received funds in settlement of a disability provision in his life insurance policy in return for surrender of that policy. The man's creditors sought to garnish those funds, arguing that they did not constitute "cash surrender values" of a life insurance policy because they were in settlement of the disability provision of the policy.

This Court disagreed. It interpreted language in the then existing exemption statute which stated that the cash surrender value of life insurance policies "upon whatever form" shall not in "any" case be liable for garnishment. 5/ Id. at 174-75. This Court held that cash surrender value included funds obtained by a negotiated settlement which included surrendering the policy. "Cash surrender value" was not limited to "cash surrender value" as that term is ordinary used in insurance law. Id. at 175.

The statutory language interpreted in <u>Bank of Greenwood</u> is virtually identical to the relevant statutory language in this case. Section 222.18 states that benefits of a disability insurance policy "of whatever form, shall not in any case be liable" to garnishment. Thus, as in <u>Bank of Greenwood</u>, the exempted policy benefits in this case should include monies obtained in a negotiated settlement for payment under the policy. The Third District

Prior to the passage of § 222.18 in 1941, disability income benefits were not exempt from garnishment, but cash surrender values of life insurance policies were.

held otherwise. Therefore, this case directly conflicts with Bank of Greenwood and this Court has jurisdiction.

B. The Third District Court's decision misapplied the rule of law stated in <u>J. Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc.</u>

The Third District Court's decision conflicts with the Second District Court's decision in J. Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc. because it misapplies the rule of law stated in that case. See Mancini v. State, 312 So.2d 732, 733 (Fla. 1975). J. Allen, a conflict arose over whether a subcontractor's work was acceptable. The contractor and subcontractor settled this conflict by entering into an agreement that the contractor would pay the subcontractor for the labor and materials necessary to rework the job. The subcontract redid the job according to the job specifications but the contractor refused to pay the subcontractor for the additional work. The subcontractor sued and the contractor counterclaimed that the subcontractor had initially performed the work in an unworkmanlike manner. The Second District Court rejected the contractor's counterclaim because any rights and duties the parties had at the time they entered into the settlement agreement were merged into that settlement agreement. 543 So.2d at 251.

The rule announced in <u>J. Allen</u> has no relevance to this case. It does not address the nature of funds received in settlement of a claim. Instead, the rule merely states the unremarkable proposition that a party who enters into a settlement of a disputed

claim cannot later attempt to litigate that claim. 6/ It does not follow that funds paid pursuant to a settlement of a case to obtain benefits under a disability policy somehow lose their character as disability benefits.

Thus, the Third District Court's decision in this case conflicts with the Second District Court's decision in \underline{J} . Allen and this Court has jurisdiction to review this case.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS JURISDIC-TION TO RESOLVE THE QUESTION OF WHETHER MONIES OBTAINED IN A SETTLEMENT ON A DISABILITY POLICY ARE DISABILITY INCOME BENEFITS EXEMPTED FROM GARNISHMENT.

The Third District Court's decision in this case has broad and disturbing ramifications. First, the Third District Court's decision is contrary to the plain language of the exemption statute. Section 222.18 unambiguously exempts from legal process all disability income benefits, "of whatever form" due a debtor under any disability policy. The statute could not be more broadly worded. The court should not graft onto a statute limitations not mandated by the legislature. Chaffee v. Miami Transfer Co., 288 So.2d 209, 215 (Fla. 1974). Therefore, the fact that these payments were made pursuant to a settlement agreement on a claim for these benefits should be irrelevant.

The other two cases cited by the Third District Court in this case apply the same rule in the context of a judgment on a disputed claim. Brinker v. Ludlow, 379 So.2d 999 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), approved, 403 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1981); Salling Wiping Cloth Co. v. Sewell, Inc., 419 So.2d 112 (La.Ct.App. 1982).

The only exception to this broad exemption from legal process is where the insurance policy "was effected for the benefit of such creditor or creditors." § 222.18.

Second, the Third District Court's decision contravenes the policy behind the exemption statute. Statutes should be construed to give effect to the policy behind their enactment. White v. Pepsico, 568 So.2d 886, 889 (Fla. 1990). The purpose of such exemptions is to prevent debtors and their families from being deprived of the necessities of life and becoming public charges. Patten Package Co. v. Houser, 102 Fla. 603, 136 So. 353, 355 (1931). See also Elvin v. Public Finance Co., 196 So.2d 25 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967). For this reason, such exemptions should be liberally construed in favor of the debtor to accomplish the policy of preserving a living for the debtor and his family. Killian v. Lawson, 387 So.2d 960, 962 (Fla. 1980); Patten Package, 136 So. at 355.

Instead, the Third District Court strictly construed the exemption. The implication of the court's holding is that only disability benefits paid pursuant to uncontested claims are exempt from garnishment. If the carrier contests the claim, and the insured is forced to litigate the claim, any funds received whether by settlement or judgment are subject to garnishment by creditors. That places an unfair burden on insureds whose disability carriers dispute their claims and contravenes the policy of

Two of the three cases cited by the Third District Court dealt with the merger of claims into a judgment, Brinker v. Ludlow, 379 So.2d at 1002; Salling Wiping Cloth Co. v. Sewell, Inc., 419 So.2d at 116-17. Thus, apparently the court did not distinguish between settlements and judgments in this context. To the extent the court's decision can be seen as only applying to payments made pursuant to a settlement, it also contravenes the public policy favoring settlement of disputes without litigation. See Robbie v. City of Miami, 469 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 1985).

protecting debtors and their families from becoming destitute and public charges.

Moreover, settlements and judgments do not exist in a vacuum. They must be construed with reference to the subject matter before the court at the time they were made. See Saucer v. Efstathion, 34 So.2d 435, 436 (Fla. 1948). The settlement in this case requires payment of disability benefits to Zuckerman because the original insurance policy so required. The settlement merely changed the method of payment. Those funds were disability benefits as surely as if they had been paid when Zuckerman first made his claim. The character and purpose of the payments never changed, and neither should their exempt status.

Thus, it is important that this Court exercise its jurisdiction to review this case and resolve the conflict created by the Third District Court's decision.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to exercise its jurisdiction and resolve the conflict presented by the Third District Court's decision in this case.