IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 83,015

DONALD S. ZUCKERMAN, P.A., etc., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

ALEX HOFRICHTER, P.A., f/k/a HOFRICHTER & QUIAT, P.A., and ALEX HOFRICHTER, individually,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Steven R. Berger, Esq. WOLPE, LEIBOWITZ, BERGER & BROTMAN 19 W. Flagler Street Suite 520 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 372-0060

AND

ALEX HOFRICHTER, P.A. Suite 1500 9350 South Dixie Highway Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 670-4888

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SID J. WHITE

FEB 7 1994

TED

By Chief Deputy Clerk

1

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner invites the invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. Const. Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(3), because of an alleged "express and direct conflict" with this Court's decision in <u>Bank of Greenwood v. Rawls</u>, 117 Fla. 381, 158 So. 173 (1934) and the Second District's decision in <u>J.</u> <u>Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc.</u>, 543 So.2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). No other jurisdictional basis is alleged; none is presented.

Contrary to Petitioner's factual statement, as the opinion under consideration makes clear, the Third District Court of Appeal did not hold that the subject settlement "converted these proceeds from exempt disability payments into generic settlement proceeds but were not exempt from garnishment." (Petitioner's Brief, at 1). Rather, the district court expressly held that the subject lawsuit settlement proceeds never possessed the character of <u>disability benefits</u> in the first instance:

> The compromise and settlement agreement between the parties extinguished Zuckerman's claim under the disability policy, as well as Provident's counterclaim for fraud, and in no way constituted an admission by Provident or Zuckerman that each other's claims were valid; Provident, in particular, simply bought its piece at a price considerably lower than Zuckerman claimed.

Stated differently, Provident paid Zuckerman pursuant to the agreement of settlement and compromise, not the disability insurance policy. This being so, the subject settlement proceeds cannot constitute "disability income benefits" under the above statute. [citations omitted].

18 FLW D2571 (Fla. 3d DCA Dec. 7, 1993).

As the district court noted, while Petitioner sued for disability benefits and for statutory bad faith, his insurer, Provident, counterclaimed for fraud, unjust enrichment and related claims because of Petitioner's fraudulent misrepresentation on the insurance application. <u>Id</u>. The lawsuit (and, necessarily, all claims asserted or which could have been asserted therein) was settled for an agreed upon general payment of \$75,000.00 by Provident. <u>Id</u>.

Respondent respectfully suggests that no conflict exists and, thus, jurisdiction does not lie.

- 2 -

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no express and direct conflict between the Third District's decision here and this Court's decision in <u>Rawls</u> or the Second District's decision in <u>J. Allen</u>. In <u>Rawls</u>, the garnished res "was an agreed payment for total disability benefits...." Here, Respondent garnished an indebtedness under a general litigation settlement. The res never possessed the character of disability income benefits, nor did it purport to. <u>Rawls</u> is distinguishable on its facts and no conflict is presented.

In <u>J. Allen</u>, as in this case, the parties entered into a compromise and settlement agreement and expressly extinguished their respective rights and obligations under the original contract. The district court here properly relied upon <u>J. Allen</u> and the controlling rule of law applied therein in deciding this case. The compromise and settlement agreement here did not provide for the payment of disability benefits, but instead represented the global settlement of various disputed claims and counterclaims of the parties.

- 3 -

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THERE IS NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW TO INVOKE THIS COURT'S JURISDICTION.

Neither precedent relied upon by Petitioner is in conflict with the Third District's decision in this case. In Bank of Greenwood v. Rawls, this Court expressly recognized that the garnished res "was an agreed payment for total disability benefits.... "158 So. at 174. Here, respondent indisputably garnished the proceeds of a general litigation settlement following the compromise of various disputed claims and counterclaims. Petitioner's reliance upon this Court's use of the word "settlement" in Rawls as meaning something more than the direct exercise and discharge of the parties' respective rights and obligations pursuant to the terms of an insurance policy, is clearly misplaced and an attempt to manufacture conflict where none exists. See Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983) (where case is distinguishable on its facts from cases allegedly in conflict, jurisdiction does not lie).

The same reasoning negates Petitioner's suggestion of jurisdiction based upon an alleged misapplication of the rule of law followed in <u>J. Allen, Inc. v. Castle Floor Covering, Inc.</u>, 543 So.2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). In <u>J. Allen</u>, as in the other

- 4 -

cases cited in the opinion at bar, the court held, <u>inter alia</u>, that a compromise and settlement agreement memorialized in addenda to the parties' contract extinguished the parties' rights and obligations under the original contract: "By entering into the addenda, any rights and duties the parties had at that moment were merged into their settlement agreement, unless stated otherwise." 543 So.2d at 251.

Precisely the same factual scenario was presented in the instant case, as Petitioner and his insurer conclusively settled and extinguished their respective claims on global terms and without reservation for the sum of \$75,000.00. The district court did not misapply the settled and controlling rule of law applied in <u>J. Allen</u>.

## II. THE COURT SHOULD NOT EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY TO REVIEW THIS CASE.

The controlling rule of law properly applied by the district court in this case is also entirely consistent with this Court's own prior precedents. <u>See National Surety Co. v.</u> <u>Willys-Overland, Inc.</u>, 103 Fla. 738, 138 So. 24, 26 (Fla. 1931) ("It is also well settled that the parties and those who claim under them with notice cannot go behind a compromise made in good faith as a settlement of prior disputes."); <u>Munilla v.</u>

- 5 -

<u>Perez-Cobo</u>, 335 So.2d 584 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), <u>cert. den.</u> 344 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1977).

To entice discretionary review, Petitioner cites noble legislative concerns, misguided principles of statutory construction,<sup>1</sup> and the public policy favoring settlements over litigation. Bad facts make bad law, however. In this case, the record, as noted by the District Court of Appeal, reflects that the compromise and settlement agreement <u>did not</u> provide for payment of disability benefits pursuant to the policy but rather expressly extinguished Petitioner's claim under the policy. As the trial court found, and as confirmed by the district court, the settlement funds were not, as Petitioner contends, disability benefits,<sup>2</sup> nor did the parties intend

<sup>1</sup>Petitioner's generous liberties concerning the plain language of the statute at issue merits brief mention. Contrary to Petitioner's suggestion at pages 5 and 7, as well as by the supplied emphasis in footnote 4 at page 4, the words "of whatever form" in Section 222.18 do not qualify the words "Disability income benefits" but, rather, the words "any policy or contract of life, health, accident, or other insurance." The last antecedent doctrine of statutory construction requires that "relative and qualifying words, phrases, and clauses are to be applied to the words or phrase immediately preceding, and are not to be construed as extending to or including others more remote." Kirksey v. State, 433 So.2d 1236, 1241 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983 (the court citing McKenzie Tank Lines, Inc. v. McCauley, 418 So.2d 1177, 1179-1180 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Rich Electronics v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Company, 523 So.2d 670, 672 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). See also Rawls, 158 So. at 174-75.

<sup>2</sup>Petitioner's Brief, at p.9.

them to be as reflected in the settlement documents.

Petitioner's expressed fear that insureds in litigation with their disability carriers will lose the statutory protections ignores the plain fact that with the exception of those few highly tenuous claims which can only be resolved through litigation, the overwhelming majority of claims are resolved and benefits paid without litigation. Furthermore, as with all settlement agreements, all the insured or its counsel need do to preserve the statutory exemption is simply require the due payment of disability benefits and identify same in the settlement (if that is in fact the case). See J. Allen, 543 So.2d at 251-52 ("By entering into the addenda, any rights and duties the parties at that moment were merged into their settlement agreement, unless stated otherwise. [citation by the court omitted.] The addenda and their attachments conclusively show that there was no statement or reservation to the contrary." [emphasis supplied]).

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully suggests that there is no express and direct conflict on the same question of law authorizing this Court's discretionary review of this case.

- 7 -